FILED

JUN 08, 2015

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
NO. 32956-9-III

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

Robert C.,

Juvenile Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR YAKIMA COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

TRAVIS STEARNS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

Robert C.¹ is a ten year old boy who has been abused by his family his entire life. He spent the first part of his life living with his father, who beat and belittled him on a constant basis. The only time he ever felt safe was when he lived with his mother in Montana, where he did well in school and engaged in counseling. Because of the extreme abuse Robert has suffered, his reaction to discipline or abuse from family members is to defend himself.

When this incident occurred, Robert was living in Yakima with his mother and two aunts, one of whom suffered from dementia. He had no private area and slept in the living room. When he got into a fight with his aunt over the television remote, he attempted to escape the conflict. Once he had cooled down, he was belittled, ordered to clean the toilet with a toothbrush, and assaulted by an aunt who kicked the bucket he was sitting on out from under him. He tried to escape to his mother's bedroom, but was pursued by his aunt who "got up in his face" and ordered him to "get his ass outside." After he warned his aunt

¹ The General Order of Division III "In Re the Use of Initials or Pseudonyms for Child Victims or Witnesses" does not appear to apply to child defendants but in keeping with the desire "to protect the privacy interests of children," the appellant will be referred to by his first name and last initial only.

not to assault him again, she tried to pull him out of the room, which is when he displayed a "little paring knife" he was holding for his protection.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR²

- 1. The State failed to establish capacity by clear and convincing evidence.
- 2. Defense counsel's failure to argue self-defense constituted ineffective assistance of counsel.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. Children under 12 are presumed to lack the capacity to commit a crime. This burden is only overcome when the State is able to establish by clear and convincing evidence an accused child has sufficient capacity to understand the act and know it was wrong. The evidence at the capacity hearing established Robert's maturity did not exceed that of a ten year old. He was physically abused, suffered from mental illness, had trouble in school and an unstable home life. No other factors established the clear and convincing evidence required to demonstrate capacity. Must the decision of the trial court to find

² JuCR 7.11 requires written findings and conclusions when a case is appealed. Because no written findings have been filed with regard to capacity, guilt or sentence, Robert reserves the right to challenge their sufficiency in the future.

capacity be reversed where the State fails to establish by clear and convincing evidence Robert had capacity to commit the crime charged?

- 2. Robert is ten years old and a victim of domestic violence. He receives medication and counseling for the traumatic stress he suffers. When he is disciplined or abused, he attempts to defend himself, as he has learned, with force. Like other children, Robert lacks the capacity to exercise mature judgment and possesses only an incomplete ability to understand the world around himself. The evidence demonstrated he was afraid of being assaulted again by his relatives when he retreated to the bedroom and displayed the "little paring knife" after his aunt got in his face and attempted to assault him again. Must the court consider in determining capacity whether Robert was acting as a reasonable child when he attempted to defend himself against the physical and verbal abuse he was suffering?
- 3. Ineffective assistance occurs where counsel's performance falls below an objective standard of reasonableness and there is a reasonable probability counsel's poor work resulted in prejudice.

 Ineffective assistance occurs where a lawyer's mistakes allow a person to be convicted under evidence which is legally insufficient to support a conviction. Where evidence supports self-defense, the State has the

burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the defendant was not justified in defending himself. Defense counsel did not ask the court to consider self-defense because he did not think it applied. Must this court remand for a new trial where counsel's failure to ask the trial court to consider self-defense was not a strategic decision and where the defense was supported by the evidence introduced at trial?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Robert is the victim of serious child abuse.

Until he was five or six, Robert lived with his father in Yakima. VR 29.3 His father was "an extremely negative influence," who "engaged in physically inappropriate contact" with him. VR 29.

According to his mother Tina Collins, "His dad beat him on a constant basis. He belittled him. He pretty much abused him in all ways that --some things we don't even know went on with him and his father." VR 106. Robert's Aunt Karissa Ratcliff described Robert's father as "an abusive jerk." VR 139. When the probation officer testified at the capacity hearing, he believed it was "spot on" Robert's anger was a result of the abuse Robert suffered from his family. VR 29.

³ The verbatim report of proceedings contains one volume. This volume will be referred to as VR and accompanied by the page number referred to in the record.

Although Robert had moved out of Yakima with his mother for a period of time, he had moved back to the area, where probation believed his "father [wa]s more in the picture." VR 29. His grandmother had died and the family was "shooken" up. VR 108. His mother told the court his abusive father had been "coming around." VR 108. Drug use continued to be a problem for the father, who also lacked a stable job or address. VR 109.

2. Counseling was required to help Robert recover from his abuse.

Robert suffered from post-traumatic stress. VR 33. When he moved to Montana, he engaged in counseling, which helped him "dramatically." VR 114. Upon his return to Yakima, Robert engaged in treatment with Behavioral Health Services. VR 35. There were regular appointments and counseling sessions. VR 114. He was prescribed Prozac, an anti-depressant used to treat depression, obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), bulimia nervosa, premenstrual dysphoric disorder (PMDD), and panic disorder. 4 *Id*.

⁴ Prozac is the common name for Fluoxetine. *See* U.S. National Library of Medicine, PubMed Health, Fluoxetine (2015), available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmedhealth/PMHT0010346/.

Because of the trauma Robert suffered as a result of being assaulted by family members, he becomes aggressive when physically abused or disciplined. VR 107. His mother told the court "using physical abuse against Robert makes him ... aggressive --- more aggressive because he's trying to protect himself." *Id*.

3. Post-traumatic stress caused Robert to have trouble in school.

In third grade, Robert missed a lot of school and got into trouble when he did attend classes. VR 106. He was expelled from school in third grade "a month after he started school." VR 107. When he moved to Montana with his mother, "it went great." VR 108. His grades improved and the family had fewer problems. "He was a good kid. He was a great student. He did really well." *Id*.⁵

⁵ No evidence was ever introduced about how Robert was faring in school when this incident occurred.

4. Robert's home life continued to be abusive after moving in with his mother.

Although Robert was doing well in Montana, his mother moved him back to Yakima after a family member had died. He moved in with two of his aunts, into a house where did not have his own bedroom. VR 143. His older aunt Irene Smith suffered from dementia and called Robert "my baby". VR 81-82.

On September 12, 2014, Robert was watching television with his sister. VR 83. Although Ms. Smith admitted "I don't remember that far back" because she suffers from dementia and memory loss, she testified she got into an argument with Robert about the television remote control. VR 84. When she tried to take the remote from him, she told the court "I think he thought I was going to hit him, but I wasn't going to hit him." *Id.* She testified that Robert, reacting to this perception, hit and kicked her. *Id.* She then left, telling his mother, "[H]e's all yours." VR 86. Ms. Smith said because "I got that dementia going, and I kind of forget things" she did not remember all of the incident. VR 90. No other witness was able to testify to what happened between Robert and his older aunt, except from "just asking Auntie what happened." VR 118.

When his mother arrived, she told Robert he needed to respect his "elder" and could not have the remote. VR 98. She told him he was grounded. VR 98-99. Robert reacted by hitting his mother. *Id.* His mother went outside to their smoking area, "not paying attention to what Robert did." VR 100. When Ms. Ratcliff, his other aunt, came into the room, she could tell he was "pretty upset." VR 119.

Robert went outside to his quiet area to "cool off." VR 101.

After a time, he was asked "if he was done." VR 102. He came over to his family and apologized for getting "mouthy." VR 121. He hugged his aunt and his mother. VR 122. He was told there would be consequences for his actions. Ms. Smith told him "he needed to go scrub the toilet with a toothbrush." *Id.* He got mad and told his family that was "child slave labor". *Id.* Ms. Ratcliff told him "you get off your ass." VR 123. She kicked the bucket he was sitting on "out from under him," causing him to fall upon the ground. *Id.*

Robert went back into the house to escape from his relatives.

VR 123. He did not see his mother again until after the police had arrived. VR 100. Rather than give him quiet time, as advised by Robert's counselors, his Aunt Ratcliff pursued him into the house. VR 124. When she told him his mother did not want him inside, he "sat

there and said he wasn't moving. He wasn't doing anything. He was going to sit there." *Id.* He sat on the bed "normal." VR 125.

At this point, Robert's aunt's "level of angriness or anger or whatever you want to call it was getting up there." *Id.* She told him "you need to get your fucking ass outside. You are making me mad, and I don't want to get mad at you, so let's go." *Id.* She remembered "getting in his face, and I said, now I'm in your face." VR 126.

In response, Robert told her "the next person that touches me or says anything to me is ... was either going to get their ass beat or get killed." *Id.* At trial, she testified "I honestly don't remember what he was saying." VR 142. Ms. Ratcliff then screamed at him "this was fucking ridiculous and that he needed to get outside." VR 128. She reached out to grab him and he held up the "little paring knife" he had taken from the kitchen drawer. VR 128, VR 134. The police were called and Robert waited in the bedroom for them to arrive. VR 71. He was taken into custody without incident. *Id.*

Although originally released to live with his mother, Robert was eventually held in detention. His mother did not visit him once he had been placed in custody for this charge, although she did speak to him twice a week by phone. VR 114.

5. Although finding Robert had the maturity of an average ten year old, the Court found clear and convincing evidence of capacity.

The only witness called at the capacity hearing was a Yakima County probation officer, who had no prior relationship with Robert. He interviewed Robert's mother and a probation officer in Montana. He testified "I don't know any ten year olds that are mature." VR 31. He said Robert had the "ability to engage in pro-social behaviors." Id.

The court found Robert's "maturity is right on for a ten year old of his age." VR 46. After reviewing the evidence presented during the capacity hearing, the court found Robert had capacity for all three charges. VR 45.

6. Robert was convicted of all charges and committed to the JRA.

Robert's trial took less than half a day. He was convicted of two counts of assault in the fourth degree and one count of assault in the second degree. VR 168. His lawyer did not ask the court to consider self-defense, despite abundant evidence Robert was defending himself, believing self-defense did not apply to these facts. VR 153. He was sentenced to 15-36 weeks, consecutive to 36 days in detention. VR 172.

E. ARGUMENT

- 1. Because he lacked criminal intent and did not understand his legal responsibility, Robert lacked the capacity to commit an assault.
 - a. The presumption a child lacks the capacity to commit a crime before they become 12 is only overcome by clear and convincing evidence.

The law presumes children under twelve lack the capacity to commit a crime. State v. Erika D.W., 85 Wn. App. 601, 605, 934 P.2d 704 (1997); RCW 9A.04.050. This presumption is intended "to protect from the criminal justice system those individuals of tender years who are less capable than adults of appreciating the wrongfulness of their behavior." State v. Ramer, 151 Wn.2d 106, 114, 86 P.3d 132, 136 (2004), quoting State v. Q.D., 102 Wn.2d 19, 23, 685 P.2d 557 (1984). The law has historically reflected the same assumption that children characteristically lack the capacity to exercise mature judgment and possess only an incomplete ability to understand the world around them. J.D.B. v. N. Carolina, --- U.S. ---, 131 S. Ct. 2394, 2403, 180 L. Ed. 2d 310 (U.S. 2011) citing, e.g., 1 W. Blackstone, Commentaries on the Laws of England 464–465 (explaining limits on children's legal capacity under the common law "secure them from hurting themselves by their own improvident acts").

A child's age is far "more than a chronological fact." *Eddings v. Oklahoma*, 455 U.S. 104, 115, 102 S.Ct. 869, 71 L.Ed.2d 1 (1982). It "generates commonsense conclusions about behavior and perception that apply broadly to children as a class." *Yarborough v. Alvarado*, 541 U.S. 652, 674, 124 S. Ct. 2140, 158 L.Ed.2d 938 (2004). Children "generally are less mature and responsible than adults." *Eddings*, 455 U.S., at 115. They "often lack the experience, perspective, and judgment to recognize and avoid choices that could be detrimental to them." *Bellotti v. Baird*, 443 U.S. 622, 635, 99 S. Ct. 3035, 61 L.Ed.2d 797 (1979) (plurality opinion). They "are more vulnerable or susceptible to ... outside pressures" than adults. *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 569, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L.Ed.2d 1 (2005). History is "replete with laws and judicial recognition" that children cannot be viewed simply as miniature adults. *J.D.B.*, 131 S. Ct. at 2404.

In order to overcome the presumption of incapacity, the State must prove by clear and convincing evidence an accused child has sufficient capacity to understand the act and to know it was wrong.

State v. Ramer, 151 Wn.2d at 114.6 "Capacity requires the actor to

 $^{^6}$ Clear, cogent, and convincing evidence is a quantum of proof is less than "beyond a reasonable doubt," but more than a mere "preponderance." It is the quantum of

understand the nature or illegality of his acts. In other words, he must be able to form criminal intent. A 'sense of moral guilt alone, in the absence of knowledge of legal responsibility, is not sufficient.'" *Id.* at 115, *citing* 43 C.J.S. Infants § 197 (1978). This Court will review the record to determine whether there is substantial evidence establishing the State met its burden of overcoming the statutory presumption children under 12 years of age are incapable of committing a crime. *Id.*, at 112-13.

Courts consider seven factors to determine whether a child knew their act was wrong. *Id.*, at 114, *citing State v. J.P.S.*, 135 Wn.2d 34, 38–39, 954 P.2d 894 (1998). The factors a court should consider include (1) the nature of the crime, (2) the child's age and maturity, (3) whether the child showed a desire for secrecy, (4) whether the child admonished the victim not to tell, (5) prior conduct similar to the conduct charged, (6) any consequences attached to the conduct, and (7) acknowledgment the behavior was wrong. *Id.* Expert testimony and testimony from adults acquainted with the child are relevant to this inquiry. *J.P.S.*, 135 Wn.2d at 39. Also relevant is testimony from those

evidence sufficient to convince the fact finder the fact in issue is "highly probable." *Davis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 94 Wn.2d 119, 126, 615 P.2d 1279 (1980).

acquainted with the child and the testimony of experts. *See State v. Linares*, 75 Wn. App. 404, 415, 880 P.2d 550 (1994). But a child's acknowledgement he understood his act was wrong after the fact is insufficient to overcome the presumption of incapacity. *J.P.S.*, 135 Wn.2d at 44.

The capacity analysis must be made within the context of *Roper* and *J.D.B.*, which require the court to understand the lack of experience, perspective and judgment impacts a child's decision making process and makes them more vulnerable and susceptible to outside pressures than adults. *J.D.B.*, 131 S.Ct. at 2403. Understanding that a "reasonable" child will not act the same way as an adult "generates commonsense conclusions about behavior and perception," informing the decision making process of the juvenile court. *See Id.*, at 2402 (*quoting Alvarado*, 541 U.S. at 674 (Breyer, J., dissenting)).

b. Robert lacked capacity to be able to create criminal intent because he suffers from a long history of physical abuse and was attempting to protect himself from a verbal and physical assault when this incident occurred.

Robert lacked the capacity to commit the assaults he was charged with because he was not able form criminal intent. *Ramer*, 151 Wn.2d at 115. Robert suffers from a long history of abuse which has

caused extreme emotional distress requiring treatment and medication. His response to the actions of his relatives was consistent with this diagnosis, rather than the indication of criminal intent the court is required to find. *Id* at 116. (No capacity for an eleven year old charged with two count of first degree rape of child who admitted the conduct was "bad").

i. The nature of the crime does not support capacity.

Had the State chosen, it could have brought assault charges against Robert's aunt, Ms. Ratcliff. *See* RCW 9A.36.031. Ms. Ratcliff physically assaulted Robert when she kicked the bucket out from underneath him while he was sitting outside with his family. She assaulted him again in the bedroom when he was trying to get away from his family, by telling him "you need to get your fucking ass outside" and by "getting in his face." VR 126, VR 128. Robert's reaction to this assault is consistent with the way he reacts when he suffers from physical abuse or discipline: he tried to protect himself by using physical force. VR 107.

Research has consistently found children who are victims of domestic violence have higher levels of aggression, anger and hostility than children who do not suffer from abuse. H. Lien Bragg, *Child*

Protection in Families Experiencing Domestic Violence, U.S. Dep't of Health and Human Servs. 10 (2003). School-aged children like Robert may struggle with peer relationships, academic performance, and emotional stability. *Id.* Children who are physically abused demonstrate increased levels of emotional and psychological maladjustment as compared to children who only witness violence and are not abused. *Id.* at 12. Because physically abused children have seen only violence used to solve problems in the home, they are unaware of other problemsolving methods. *See, e.g.*, Brandt Steele, *Notes on the Lasting Effects of Early Child Abuse*, 10 Child Abuse and Neglect: Int'1 J. 283, 285 (1986) (observing that victims of childhood abuse tend to inflict the same forms of abuse upon their own children).

A child's age will also affect how a reasonable person perceives their circumstances and this Court must analyze the nature of the crime from the point of view of a ten year old boy, who lacks, experience, perspective, and judgment to recognize and avoid choices detrimental to him. *See J.D.B.*, 131 S.Ct. at 2403 (A "reasonable child" has an incomplete ability to understand the world around himself). Because "children characteristically lack the capacity to exercise mature judgment and possess only an incomplete ability to understand the

world around them," evaluating a juvenile's subjective belief that a threat exists against the standard of a reasonable adult person does not adequately assess a juvenile's culpability in a self-defense context.

Marsha L. Levick, Elizabeth-Ann Tierney, *The United States Supreme Court Adopts A Reasonable Juvenile Standard in J.D.B. v. North Carolina for Purposes of the Miranda Custody Analysis: Can A More Reasoned Justice System for Juveniles Be Far Behind?*, 47 Harv. C.R.-C.L. L. Rev. 501, 521 (2012) *quoting J.D.B.*, 131 S.Ct. at 2403. This Court must answer whether a reasonable child in Robert's circumstances would have acted the way he did. *Id.* Self-defense negates intent. *State v. McCullum*, 98 Wn.2d 484, 494, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983) (self-defense negates the intent element of a crime). Analyzing the question of whether Robert believed he was justified in defending himself is a threshold question to determine whether he had capacity.

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