#### **FILED**

OCT 20, 2015

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

NO. 32956-9-III

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ROBERT C.,

Appellant.

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

David B. Trefry WSBA #16050 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JOSEPH A. BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

####

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

There are two issues that were raised: Whether the state had rebutted the presumption that Robert at the age of 10 was in incapable of committing a criminal act and; Whether as trial counsel was ineffective because he had not argued that Robert had the right raise the defense of self-defense.

#### RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR ONE CAPACITY.

The law addressing capacity has remained unchanged for years. There is a statutory presumption that children between 8 and 11 years old lack capacity to commit a crime applies in juvenile proceedings. RCW 9A.04.050. To rebut this presumption, the State in this case had to convince the trial judge that Robert had sufficient capacity to understand his acts and to know that they were wrong. State v. J.P.S., 135 Wn.2d 34, 38, 954 P.2d 894 (1998); State v. Erika D.W., 85 Wn.App. 601, 605, 934 P.2d 704 (1997).

State v. Ramer, 151 Wn.2d 106, 86 P.3d 132 (Wash. 2004);

Under RCW 9A.04.050, the State has the burden to rebut the presumption of incapacity by clear and convincing evidence. The standard on review is whether there was evidence from which a rational trier of fact could find capacity by clear and convincing evidence. <u>J.P.S.</u>, 135 Wash.2d at 37, 954 P.2d 894; <u>State v. K.R.L.</u>, 67 Wash.App. 721, 840 P.2d 210 (1992).

The trial court must decide whether the State has rebutted the incapacity presumption by considering the following factors:

(1) the nature of the crime, (2) the child's age and maturity, (3) whether the child evidenced a desire for secrecy, (4) whether the child told the victim (if any) not to tell, (5) prior conduct similar to that charged, (6) any consequences that attached to that prior conduct, and (7) whether the child had made an acknowledgment that the behavior is wrong and could

lead to detention. J.P.S. at 38-9

Capacity in this context is the determination that the person,

Robert in this case, understands the nature or illegality of his acts. 43

C.J.S. Infants § 197 (1978). Stated another way, the court must determine that Robert was able to entertain criminal intent. Id. A "sense of moral guilt alone, in the absence of knowledge of legal responsibility, is not sufficient," although actual knowledge of the legal consequences is not necessary. Ramer, 151 Wn.2d at 115, Citing J.P.S, supra.

The State does not need to show, and the court does not need to find that Robert understood that his acts would be punishable under the law. <u>J.P.S.</u>, 135 Wn.2d at 38. "The focus is on 'whether the child appreciated the quality of his or her acts at the time the act was committed,' rather than whether the child understood the legal consequences of the act." <u>Ramer</u>, 151 Wn.2d at 114 (quoting <u>State v.</u> T.E.H., 91 Wn.App. 908, 913, 960 P.2d 441 (1998)).

This court will review the trial court's determination that Robert had capacity to commit the crimes here by examining the record to determine whether the State produced substantial evidence to rebut the presumption of incapacity. Ramer, 151 Wn.2d at 112-13. This courts inquiry is whether the State produced sufficient evidence to meet its burden of proof and, necessarily, this court will not pass on whether the

State's showing was persuasive. <u>State v. Huff</u>, 64 Wn.App. 641, 655, 826 P.2d 698 (1992). The burden of persuasion is a matter for the trier of fact (here the juvenile court judge) to resolve. <u>Id</u>. <u>Huff</u> addresses these two burdens as follows:

The argument confuses the burden of production with the burden of proof. The phrase "substantial evidence" describes the burden of production in all cases, In re

Dependency of C.B., 61 Wash.App. 280, 286, 810 P.2d 518 (1991), while the phrase "beyond a reasonable doubt" describes the burden of persuasion in criminal cases. The burden of production is applied by the judge, while the burden of persuasion is applied by the jury. In re

Dependency of C.B., 61 Wash.App. at 282-83, 810 P.2d 518. It follows that the question of "substantial evidence" is for the judge, not the jury, and that the judge in this case correctly declined to include it in the instructions that he gave to the jury. The instruction needed by the jury was one describing the burden of persuasion, and the judge gave such an instruction in appropriate form.

The juvenile court judge here considered the testimony of and the written report the juvenile officer whose job it was to prepare reports pertaining to capacity. (SE-A,) In addition the court was given the reports of the two police officers who responded to the 911 call and then issued appropriate findings based on the tried and true cases that cover this area of the law. (SE-B) The court's oral ruling is set out in totality in Appendix A. The testimony and evidence presented to the trial court when set forth with the seven factors outlined in Ramer:

Factor 1: Nature of the Crime: There are three separate crimes, two

gross misdemeanors, one is a Class B Felony and a serious offense. Robert has assaulted three family members and one of the counts alleged the crime was a domestic violence crime.

Factor 2: The Child's age and maturity: The child, at the time of the incident, was approximately 10 years old. The juvenile officer indicated that Robert's maturity was at least average for a 10 year old. The court specifically mentions that fact that Robert is getting was or was getting "A's and B's" as opposed to the child in J.P.P. who was "a mentally retarded child." RP 48

Factor 3: Whether the child exhibited a desire for secrecy: Robert requested that no action be taken, he also clearly hid the knife that he assaulted his aunt as well as lied about the weapon when he told listeners that the item he was in possession of was a pencil. The court also pointed out the conflicting reports of the two officers on scene evidenced Robert's attempt to "obfuscate the facts as opposed to simply admitting what the alleged facts were..." The court also pointed out the in Mr. Driscoll's report that

Factor 4: Whether the child told the victim not to tell: Robert did not want the police to be called and there were three separate victims all family members who were assaulted including one whose physical capacity was suspect due to recent surgery that was clearly evident due to

the sling she was wearing on her arm.

Factor 5: <u>Prior conduct similar to that charged</u>: The recent history of violence in in Montana, the two action described as "diversions" as well as what was described by Robert's mother as daily abuse that was of an assaultive nature. Mr. Driscoll's report also indicates there were at least three other occasions where the police were called because Robert had beat her up. Officers spoke to about how his actions could lead to legal issues and/or jail.

Factor 6: Any consequences that attached to the prior conduct: The prior consequence was two prior "diversions" the second was some sort of exception to the usual rule in Montana. The incidents in Washington resulted in the police being called and speaking to Robert about the consequences of his actions.

Factor 7: Whether the child acknowledged that the his behavior was wrong and could lead to detention: Robert apparently initially acknowledged the wrongfulness of his behavior. When he exited his timeout in the backyard and apologized to those who had been assaulted. But he then subsequently committed the premeditated assault using a knife, about which he lied regarding what the weapon was. He stated that the weapon was a mechanical pencil. Robert also stated that he was "scared shitless" to go to jail, clearly manifesting his knowledge of that is

actions were wrong and that there would be consequences for his acts.

All of the factors were found present in a form that supported the trial court's determination that at the time of the assaults Robert had the capacity to commit these criminal acts.

Robert made a specific effort to acknowledge that his previous actions were wrong, that the assaults on his mother and his aunt were wrong. He then grew angry again and assaulted the second aunt. He cannot now argue that his did not know that his assaultive behavior was criminal given the fact that he had previously been charged for his assaultive behavior in the court in Montana.

The past history of Robert life from the testimony given was horrible. However, as the court so correctly stated when it was ruling on this issue;

You know, unfortunately what's not on trial is the repetitive cycle of violence passed down from father to son. That's not on trial, and it's not at issue before me today. It's a factor, but I don't think it's one that comes into the issue of capacity; although, a future court might look at that and might make it a factor or a feature.

The diagnosis also of operational [sic] defiance disorder and post traumatic stress disorder are according to the testimony I think the terms that Mr. Driscoll used were spot on or something to that effect that this was the result of the cycle of violence, which unfortunately in certain families perpetuates itself.

. . .

So that's -- you know, it's a reality of certain families and a societal blight that's passed from one generation to the

other that might be addressed in some other part of this process but not dispositive of the capacity issue before the Court. RP 48-9

The testimony and exhibits that were presented to the trial court established the seven factors needed to determine if Robert had the capacity to committee the alleged crimes at the time they were alleged. The court properly found that Robert had the capacity to commit these crimes.

#### <u>APPEAL ISSUE TWO – SELF DEFENSE – INEFFECTIVE</u> <u>ASSISTANCE</u>

This entire argument is negated by the one sentence testified to by Ms. Ratliff, a statement that was never refuted. She testified that just as she saw the knife coming at her Robert stated "I told you so." (RP 130)

This statement demonstrates that this was not an act of self-defense, it was a premeditated attack on his aunt. The third such attack in a short period of time. These assaults were cut into two acts, the first half encompassed the two fourth degree assaults on his "Auntie" and his mother and the second separated by the period of time where he was calm and apologized for his actions and the second attack in the house with the paring knife. Clearly these were not the actions of person who was defending himself, they were plain and simply three separate assaults.

Appellant argues for the first time on appeal that trial counsel

should have presented the trial court with defense of self-defense. This issue would not be properly before this court if raised solely as the failure to give the self-defense instruction or raise this as a defense. It has been raised under the guise of ineffectiveness of counsel. Robert has not address how raising this issue now comports with RAP 2.5. Obviously raising an ineffectiveness of counsel argument is allowed for the "first time" on appeal. However this ineffectiveness claim raises the secondary issue of the alleged failure to raise a very specific defense. A defense that is not supported by the facts and was never mention except one singular use of the phrase "self-defense" in closing argument.

State v. Naillieux, 158 Wn.App. 630, 638-9, 241 P.3d 1280 (2010);

Mr. Naillieux argues that we should review his assignments of error in the first instance because these errors are manifest constitutional errors. Appellant's Br. at 12, 23. He, thus, essentially invites us to review his case de novo. See <u>State v. Walters</u>, 146 Wash.App. 138, 144, 188 P.3d 540 (2008) (" We review de novo claims of manifest constitutional error"). The problems this argument presents are spelled out clearly by Judge Marshall Forrest in his thoughtful opinion in <u>State v. Lynn</u>, 67 Wash.App. 339, 342-46, 835 P.2d 251 (1992). And given the increasing frequency with which these assignments of error show up in this court, the problems bear repeating.

We sit as a court of review which, of course, means that we do not preside over trial proceedings de novo. Our function is to review the validity of claimed errors by a trial judge who presided over a trial. That function assumes that counsel preserve the error by objecting to something the trial judge did or did not do. We do not, and should not, be in the business of retrying these cases. It is a wasteful use of

judicial resources. Id. at 344, 835 P.2d 251; State v. Bashaw, 169 Wash.2d 133, 146, 234 P.3d 195 (2010); State v. Labanowski, 117 Wash.2d 405, 420, 816 P.2d 26 (1991). And it encourages skilled counsel to save claims of constitutional error for appeal so a defendant can get a new trial and second chance at a not guilty verdict if the first trial does not end in his favor. Lynn, 67 Wash.App. at 343, 835 P.2d 251. Most errors in a criminal case can be characterized as constitutional. Id. at 342-43, 835 P.2d 251.

Mr. Naillieux is entitled to a new trial only if his claimed errors are manifest constitutional errors. RAP 2.5(a)(3); see Lynn, 67 Wash.App. at 345, 835 P.2d 251 (setting forth four-part manifest constitutional error test). Even if the claimed error is constitutional in nature, we will not review it unless it is also manifest. Lynn, 67 Wash. App. at 345, 835 P.2d 251. An error is manifest when the defendant shows "the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." Id. "[M]anifest' means unmistakable, evident or indisputable, as distinct from obscure, hidden or concealed. 'Affecting' means having an impact or impinging on, in short, to make a difference. A purely formalistic error is insufficient." Id. (footnote omitted). We conclude that, while Mr. Naillieux's claims of manifest constitutional error might well implicate constitutional due process rights, they are not manifest.

There literally is no other mention of self-defense anywhere in the record except the one statement in closing argument that is set out below. Robert now claims this one mention of that phrase manifests trial counsels knowledge that self-defense was a viable option and therefore it was ineffective assistance to not present that as a defense to these charges.

We don't have before the Court an explanation for where the knife came from, but I would suggest that the evidence would at least leave a reasonable doubt as to whether it was available in a defensive posture.

But even without the issue of **self-defense** coming into

this, this to me is always about the word imminent and what that means. And Your Honor will either convict Robert, or you won't when the testimony is he simply held a knife up. (Emphasis mine.)

The court in <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Yung-Cheng Tsai</u>, 183 Wn.2d 91, 351 P.3d 138 (2015) addressed <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) as follows:

When determining whether a defense attorney provided effective assistance, the underlying test is always one of "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Id. at 688. While simple to state in theory, this test can be complicated to apply in practice. The court must engage in a fact-specific inquiry into the reasonableness of an attorney's actions, measured against the applicable prevailing professional norms in place at the time. Id. at 690. It is thus impossible to "exhaustively define the obligations of counsel [ ]or form a checklist for judicial evaluation of attorney performance." Id. at 688. Nevertheless, effective representation "entails certain basic duties, " such as a duty of loyalty, a duty to avoid conflicts of interest[, ] ... the overarching duty to advocate the defendant's cause and the more particular duties to consult with the defendant on important decisions and to keep the defendant informed of important developments in the course of the prosecution. Counsel also has a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process. Id.

Denial of a defendant's right to effective assistance of counsel is an error of constitutional magnitude. State v. Nichols, 161 Wn.2d 1, 9, 162 P.3d 1122 (2007). To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, Robert must show with a preponderance of the evidence that his counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that this deficiency

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